IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

FREDERICK H. HARRIS, JR.,)
#1149356,)
Appellant,)
v.)
STATE OF NEVADA,)
Respondent.)
_____)

Electronically Filed
Oct 29 2020 11:13 a.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court
CASE NO.: 81255, 81257
E-FILE
D.C. Case: **A-18-784704-W**
C-13-291374-1
Dept.: **XII**

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

**Appeal from a Denial of Post Conviction Relief
Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County**

TERRENCE M. JACKSON, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 000854
Law Office of Terrence M. Jackson
624 South 9th Street
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101
(702) 386-0001
Terry.jackson.esq@gmail.com

STEVEN B. WOLFSON
Nevada Bar No. 001565
Clark County District Attorney

NATURE OF THE ACTION

This is an Appeal from the Denial of Post Conviction Relief in District Court.

SPECIFICATION OF ERROR

1. The District Court erred by not finding defense counsel was ineffective under *Strickland* because he failed to adequately investigate and prepare pretrial;

2. The District Court erred by finding defense counsel was not ineffective in the jury selection process;

3. The District Court erred by not finding defense counsel was ineffective under *Strickland* for failing to seek a court ordered psychiatric evaluation of the alleged victims pretrial;
4. The District Court erred in not finding counsel was an ineffective advocate at trial;
 - A. Counsel was ineffective cross-examining the State's main witness(es);
 - B. Counsel was ineffective responding to prosecutorial misconduct;
 - C. Counsel was ineffective during closing argument;
5. The District Court erred by not finding defense counsel was ineffective at sentencing. The sentence of 720 months to life imprisonment was cruel and unusual punishment under the Eighth Amendment;
6. The District Court erred in not finding ineffective assistance of counsel in handling the Motion for New Trial;
7. The District Court erred in not finding ineffective assistance of counsel on appeal;
8. The District Court erred in not finding there was cumulative error which required reversal.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Counsel was ineffective pretrial because he did not adequately investigate and prepare. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984) requires counsel to do a reasonable investigation and preparation. That was not done in this case. Defense counsel did not adequately familiarize themselves with the law and facts. Defense counsel should have done a thorough study of the law and facts to prepare for the State's case. *Strickland, Id.* 687.

Adequate investigation in this case required consulting with necessary witnesses who could have provided exculpatory evidence. The defense, not having done such necessary investigation, were totally ineffective in challenging the State's witnesses. The defense could not effectively challenge the State's experts. (A.A. 882-984), (A.A. 1395-1414), (A.A. 1463-1516), (A.A. 1783-1816) This amounted to ineffectiveness under *Strickland*.

Counsel was also ineffective under *Strickland* because he did not file a meritorious Motion to Suppress. *Kimmelman v. Morrison*, 477 U.S. 365 (1986) A Motion to Suppress would have been granted because none of the exceptions to the warrant requirement existed in this case and also the Defendant's arrest was without probable cause. The defense counsel also failed to file a necessary Motion for a Court

Ordered Psychiatric Evaluation of the victims. *Warner v. State*, 102 Nev. 635 (1980). That failure of counsel was prejudicial error under *Strickland v. Washington, supra*, because there was substantial evidence one or more of the victims had some issues that could have affected their credibility. *See, Lickey v. State*, 108 Nev. 191 (1992).

Appellant submits defense counsel was a very ineffective advocate during the trial in multiple ways. Counsel did not effectively cross examine important witnesses for the State. Counsel also did not effectively handle the multiple instances of prosecutorial misconduct during trial. *United States v. Alcantara-Castillo*, 788 F.3d 1188 (9th Cir.2015). Finally, counsel was also an ineffective advocate during closing arguments. *See, Smith v. Spisak*, 558 U.S. 139 (2010).

The aggregate sentence Appellant received of 60 years to life was excessive and disproportionate, and that sentence was in violation of the Eighth Amendment. That disproportionate and excessively harsh sentence resulted from ineffective assistance of counsel and the District Court should therefore have granted Defendant's Petition for Habeas Corpus relief.

Counsel was ineffective when handling the critical Motion for New Trial. Because counsel failed to adequately prepare a critical witness before the evidentiary hearing on the New Trial Motion, he was unable to effectively prove the facts

necessary to win the Motion.

Counsel was also ineffective in handling the Appeal. Counsel failed to effectively raise many meritorious issues and was therefore ineffective under *Strickland*. See, *Kirksey v. State*, 112 Nev. 980 (1996).

The totality of errors should have resulted in a finding of reversal because of cumulative error. *Mulder v. State*, 116 Nev. 1 (2000), *Nika v. State*, 124 Nev. 1272 (2008).

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Defendant/Appellant claims jurisdiction pursuant to N.R.S. 177.015(3).

ROUTING STATEMENT

This is a denial of post-conviction relief that should be assigned to the Nevada Supreme Court pursuant to NRAP 17(a) because it involves a case of first impression on several important legal issues. Also, the Defendant was convicted of an A level felony. It is therefore not a case presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals.

LEGAL ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. Whether the District Court erred in finding defense counsel was not ineffective for failing to do adequate pretrial preparation and investigation. Adequate investigation included hiring necessary experts to effectively challenge the State's

experts;

II. Whether the District Court erred by finding defense counsel was not ineffective during the jury selection process;

III. Whether the District Court erred when it found that defense counsel was ineffective for not filing a meritorious motion for a defense psychiatric examination of the alleged victims;

IV. Whether the District Court erred when it found defense counsel was an ineffective advocate during trial;

A. Whether defense counsel was ineffective cross-examining the State's witnesses;

B. Whether the district court erred by not finding defense counsel was ineffective handling prosecutorial misconduct which involved the prosecutor personally vouching for the credibility of the State's witnesses;

C. Whether the district court erred by not finding defense counsel was ineffective during closing argument;

V. Whether the District Court erred when it found the defense counsel was not an ineffective advocate at sentencing;

- VI. Whether the District Court erred by finding that defense counsel was not ineffective handling the Motion for a new Trial;
- VII. Whether the District Court erred by not finding that defense counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel on appeal;
- VIII. Whether cumulative errors by counsel requires reversal of Defendant's conviction.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

After the Defendant was charged in a multi-count complaint, the preliminary hearing was heard on April 29, 2013. Defendant was bound over on July 23, 2013. An Information was then filed charging multiple felonies on July 23, 2013. (A.A. 01-14) An Amended Information was later filed March 27, 2014. (A.A. 100-110) Jury trial began on March 25, 2014 (A.A.125) and concluded after 14 days with a verdict of guilty on most counts of the Amended Information on April 15, 2014. (A.A. 70-80) On April 28, 2014, Defendant filed a Motion for New Trial. (A.A. 81-87) On June 13, 2014, the State filed Opposition to Defendant's Motion for a New Trial. (A.A. 88-095)

On July 9, 2014, Defendant filed a Reply to State's Opposition/Response to New Trial Motion and Supplement to Defendant's Motion for New Trial. (A.A. 102-

115) On July 17, 2014, Defendant was sentenced and counts 1, 15, 17, 18, 21, 30, 32, 43 and 45 were dismissed. (A.A. 2462-2473) On October 29, 2014, the State filed Opposition to Defendant's Supplemental Motion for New Trial. (A.A. 088-101) On November 24, 2014, an Evidentiary Hearing on the Motion for New Trial was heard. (A.A. 2381) Again, on June 30, 2015, an Evidentiary Hearing and Argument occurred on the new trial Motion. (A.A. 2441-2461) At that time, the Court denied the Motion for New Trial. (A.A. 2455)

On October 27, 2015, the Defendant was sentenced to an aggregate sentence of 76 years to life. (A.A. 2462-2473) On October 27, 2015, Defendant filed Notice of Appeal. (A.A. 117-118) Judgment of Conviction was filed on November 2, 2015. (A.A. 119-124) On November 14, 2015, an Amended Judgment of Conviction was filed. (A.A. 2474-2479) That Amended Judgment reduced his aggregate sentence to 720 months. On November 28, 2017, the Nevada Supreme Court issued an Order of Affirmance and entered a Certificate of Judgment affirming the conviction and denying review. (A.A. 2480-84, 2485-86) Remittitur was issued December 7, 2017. (A.A. 2487-89)

On November 16, 2018, a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus was filed for the Defendant in case no.: A-18-784704-W. (A.A. 2490-2497) After another counsel was

appointed on June 20, 2019, Supplemental Points and Authorities were filed on November 1, 2019. (A.A. 2498-2528) On April 6, 2020, the State filed a Response to Petitioner's Supplemental Points and Authorities. (A.A. 2529-2560) On April 10, 2020, Defendant/Appellant filed a Reply to State's Response. (A.A. 2566) After Argument on April 23, 2020, the District Court entered Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order on May 21, 2020. (A.A. 2567-98) Notice of Entry of Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order were entered on May 22, 2020. (A.A. 2601) Defendant/Appellant filed Notice of Appeal on May 27, 2020. (A.A. 2599-2600)

On July 13, 2020, Defendant/Appellant filed a Motion to Consolidate Supreme Court case no.: 81257 with case no.: 81255. (A.A. 2602-2606) The Supreme Court of Nevada granted the Order consolidating both cases July 28, 2020. (A.A. 2618)

FACTUAL STATEMENT

Defendant was convicted of multiple felony charges including sexual assault with a minor, lewdness with a minor, first degree kidnapping, battery with intent to commit sexual assault, pandering and living from the earnings of a prostitute after a fourteen (14) day jury trial.

Although this was a serious and complex case, defense counsel did an inadequate investigation pretrial. He did not consult with necessary experts about

seeking a Motion for Psychiatric Examination of the Victims.

Despite the nature of the case, defense counsel did not adequately protect his client's right to a fair and impartial jury. Defense counsel did not seek the help of a jury expert or jury strategist pretrial or during the trial. Defense counsel did not file a meritorious Motion for Individual Sequestered Voir Dire, despite the likelihood that many potential jurors may have themselves been traumatized by sexual abuse and the voir dire process would have been offensive to other jurors or could have improperly influenced them in deciding the case.

Defense counsel was also an ineffective advocate during trial because he was ill prepared and did not adequately cross examine important State witnesses. Trial transcripts show that counsel was unable to effectively impeach the victims with prior inconsistent statements. Counsel was also ineffective in handling multiple acts of prosecutorial misconduct by not making appropriate objections to improper vouching by the prosecutor. (A.A. 2276, 2303, 2349) Counsel finished the trial by making an ineffective closing argument and Defendant was prejudiced thereby. (A.A. 2305-2345)

Although there was evidence of juror misconduct that warranted a new trial, (A.A. 2390-2409) defense counsel was ineffective in preparing the essential

witnesses for the Motion for New Trial evidentiary hearing. Counsel's failure to adequately investigate and prepare these witnesses for the evidentiary hearing for the Motion for New Trial resulted in the District Court denying Defendant's Motion for New Trial. (A.A. 2455)

Counsel was then ineffective on appeal and Defendant was sentenced to an extremely harsh and disproportionate aggregate sentence of 918 months to life imprisonment which was later reduced to 720 months. (A.A. 2473), (A.A. 2479) Defense counsel did not zealously and effectively represent Appellant at sentencing. He did not prepare a written sentencing memorandum or even present any witnesses in mitigation at sentencing. (A.A. 2462-2473) The District Court did not find counsel was ineffective when denying Defendant's Habeas Corpus Petition. (A.A. 2567-2598) An Amended Judgment of Conviction clarifying Defendant's sentence was filed November 14, 2016, and the Defendant's Aggregate sentence was reduced to 720 months. (A.A. 2473), (A.A. 2479).

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT ERRED WHEN IT FOUND DEFENSE COUNSEL WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE UNDER *STRICKLAND* BECAUSE OF HIS INSUFFICIENT PRETRIAL PREPARATION AND INVESTIGATION.

The District Court wrongly denied Appellant's claims that defense counsel in this case did not prepare adequately or investigate adequately to render effective assistance of counsel in this case. (A.A. 2580-82) The most important part of preplea investigation is adequately consulting with the Defendant pretrial so that counsel could be aware of any possible defenses. It is respectfully submitted that counsel failed almost completely in this duty. He did not spend more than a minimal amount of time with the Defendant pretrial or preplea. Every request Defendant made for counsel to file various motions was overlooked or rejected.

The American Bar Association (ABA) Standards on the Prosecution and Defense function emphasize the crucial importance of investigation by criminal defense attorneys for their clients.

See, ABA Standards 4.1: **Duty to Investigate:**

It is the duty of the lawyer to conduct a prompt investigation of the circumstances of the case and explore all avenues leading to facts relevant to guilt and degree of guilt or penalty. The investigation should always include effort to secure information in the possession of the prosecution and law enforcement authorities. The duty to investigate exists regardless of the accused's admissions or statements to the lawyer of facts constituting guilt or his stated desire to plead guilty. (Emphasis added)

The importance of this standard has been recognized and cited by the Nevada Supreme Court for over 30 years. *Jackson v. Warden*, 91 Nev. 430, 537 P.2d 473 (1975). Counsel however did not adequately fulfill this elementary command to investigate and develop information that might assist his client. The failure to fulfill this critical duty requires reversal of the conviction.

In *Strickland v Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984), the United States Supreme Court established a two pronged test for reversal based upon ineffective assistance of counsel. First, the defendant must show counsel's *performance was deficient*. This requires a showing that counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the "counsel" guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment. Second, counsel must show that *the deficient performance prejudiced* the defense. This requires showing that counsel errors were so serious as to have deprived defendant a fair trial, that is a trial where the result is reliable. Unless a defendant makes both showings, it cannot be said that the conviction or death sentence resulted in a breakdown of the adversary process that rendered the result unreliable. *Strickland* at 687.

... [j]udicial scrutiny of counsel performance must be highly deferential however, counsel must at a minimum conduct a reasonable investigation enabling him to make

informed decisions about how best to represent his client.
Strickland, Id. 691, 104 S.Ct. at 2066. (Emphasis added).

Reversing a conviction for ineffective assistance of counsel, the Nevada Supreme Court in *Sanborn v. State*, 107 Nev. 399, 812 P.2d 1279 (1991) stated:

To state a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel that is sufficient to invalidate a judgment of conviction, Sanborn must demonstrate that trial counsel's performance fell below an objective standard or reasonableness and that counsel's deficiencies were so severe that they rendered the jury's verdict unreliable. See *Strickland v Washington*, 46 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984); *Warden v. Lyons*, 100 Nev. 430, 683 F.2d 504 (1984) *cert. denied*, 471 U.S. 1004, 105 S.Ct. 1865, 85 L.Ed.2d 159 (1985). Focusing on counsel's performance as a whole, and with due regard for the strong presumption of effective assistance accorded counsel by this court and *Strickland*, we hold that Sanborn's representation indeed fell below an objective standard of reasonableness.

Trial counsel did not adequately perform pretrial investigation, failed to pursue evidence supportive of a claim of self-defense, and failed to explore allegations of the victim's propensity towards violence. Thus, he "was not functioning as the 'counsel' guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687, 104 S.Ct. at 2064. (Emphasis added)

...

Appellant submits in this case, as well as *Sanborn*, his counsel was ineffective under *Strickland* for failing to adequately investigate and the District Court erred in denying his Petition. (A.A. 2598)

II. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED WHEN IT FOUND THAT DEFENSE COUNSEL WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE DURING THE JURY SELECTION.

The right to trial by an impartial jury is a fundamental concept of due process. That importance of that right and the duty of strict inquiry into its application were discussed in *Irvin v. Dowd*, 366 U.S. 717, 81 S.Ct. 1639, 6 L.Ed.2d 751 (1961), where the Supreme Court found that in holding pretrial publicity that had tainted the jury panel, stated:

“England, from whom the Western World has largely taken its concepts of individual liberty and of the dignity and worth of every man, has bequeathed to us safeguards for their preservation, the most priceless of which is that of trial by jury. ... In essence, the right to jury trial guarantees to the criminally accused a fair trial by a panel of impartial, “indifferent jurors....” A fair trial in a fair tribunal is a basic requirement of due process.... In the ultimate analysis, only the jury can strip a man of his liberty or his life. In the language of Lord Coke, a juror

must be as “indifferent as he stands unsworn”.... His verdict must be based upon the evidence developed at the trial.” (366 U.S. at 1642, 81 S.Ct. at 721, 6 L.Ed.2d at 755). (citations omitted) (Emphasis added)

Despite the fundamental importance of obtaining a fair and impartial jury in this very serious case, counsel was grievously ineffective in preparing for the jury selection process and in selecting the jury. It is respectfully submitted there were at least two significant ways counsel was ineffective during the jury selection process:

(1.) Defense counsel failed to hire a jury selection expert and that limited his ability to get a fair and impartial jury;

(2.) Defense counsel failed to file a Motion for Individual, Sequestered Voir Dire and the Defendant was prejudiced thereby;

a. The Court Erred when it found Defense Counsel was not Ineffective because he did not seek an Expert Jury Consultant.

Defendant was entitled to a searching voir dire with the help of a Jury Selection Expert.

Defendant’s counsel however never retained a jury selection expert despite the enormous benefits of such an experts. In this type of case it is respectfully submitted the need for a juror selection expert was especially critical. An expert could have

assisted with preparing voir dire questions designed to discover any possible biases. An expert could have assisted in providing a profile of favorable jurors for the defense.

The District Court had the power to appoint a jury expert. *See, Ake v. Oklahoma*, 470 U.S. 68 (1985). Defense counsel however never even sought such an expert even though the refusal to supply an indigent with necessary defense tools has been held to be reversible error where such tools were essential to protect a defendant's rights at trial. *See generally, United States v. Durant*, 545 F.2d 823 (2d Cir.1976), *United States v. Bass*, 477 F.2d 723 (9th Cir.1973).

It is therefore respectfully submitted that in this case the Court erred in denying Appellant's Habeas Corpus Petition because if counsel had made an appropriate motion for the appointment of an expert jury consultant it would have been granted. Defendant then would have gained a very valuable resource for picking the jury in this difficult and complex case.

(1) a jury consultant, after reviewing all the facts, could have provided a profile of an ideal juror;

(2) a jury consultant could also, more importantly, have provided a profile of the most important jurors to avoid;

(3) a jury consultant could have assisted counsel in preparing voir dire questions that revealed any juror's hidden biases. This would have been extremely valuable in challenging pro-prosecution jurors for cause;

(4) a jury consultant, trained in psychology and body language, could have recognized subtle signs in jurors which showed any hostility or unfairness to the defense or defense counsel.

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