IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

FREDERICK H. HARRIS, JR.,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Nov 30 2020 01:06 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 81255 / 81257

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Order Denying Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

TERRENCE M. JACKSON, ESQ. Nevada Bar #000584 Law Office of Terrence M. Jackson 624 South 9th Street Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 (702) 386-0001

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

Given that the statement did not amount to "vouching," the State did not commit prosecutorial misconduct. It therefore would have been futile for counsel to object. Counsel has no obligation to raise futile arguments pursuant to Ennis. Further, even if the State's arguments were construed as vouching, the statements were not such that the failure to object would have rendered a more favorable

outcome at trial probable. <u>See Rowland</u>, 118 Nev. at 31, 39 P.3d at 167 (stating: "the level of misconduct necessary to reverse a conviction depends upon how strong and convincing is the evidence of guilt"). In the instant case, the evidence of guilt was strong. The State presented multiple witnesses, including the entire Duke Family, individuals close with the family, and investigating officers. Given the overwhelming evidence presented against Appellant, even if the statements were considered vouching, Appellant was not prejudiced by his counsel not objecting.

Therefore, counsel could not be held ineffective on this ground. As such, the district court did not err in denying Appellant's request for post-conviction relief on the ground. This claim should be denied.

C. Counsel's Closing Argument Was Not Ineffective

Appellant next argues that the district court erred in not finding that his counsel was ineffective during closing arguments. <u>AOB</u> at 39. In district court, Appellant did not articulate why, or what portions of the closing argument were ineffective. Appellant did not allege what counsel should or even could have done differently in order to present a more compelling closing argument. Appellant similarly fails to make any such allegations in his Opening Brief. As such, this claim was nothing more than a bare and naked allegation suitable only for summary dismissal pursuant to <u>Hargrove</u>.

Further, the State would note that what arguments to present during closing argument is a strategic decision left to counsel in most circumstances. See Rhyne v. State, 118 Nev. 1, 8, 38 P.3d 163, 167 (2002) (stating that it is trial counsel that has the "immediate and ultimate responsibility of deciding if and when to object, which witnesses, if any, to call, and what defenses to develop"); but see also (Jones v. State, 110 Nev. 730, 877 P.2d 1052 (1994) (holding that it is reversible error for an attorney to concede guilt during closing argument over his client's testimonial disavowal).

Given that Appellant has never alleged any issue pursuant to <u>Jones</u> or other rule of law that confines the scope of counsel's arguments, the only question is whether counsel performed reasonably at closing. The record reveals this to be the case. Counsel began by challenging the veracity of the State's witness V.D. 10 AA2305. Counsel went on to point out the V.D.'s mother T.D. had potential issues with Child Protective Services when living in Louisiana. 10 AA2307. Counsel highlighted that it would have been odd for T.D. to bring her children back to the Appellant after they suffered such abuse at his hands. 10 AA2309. Counsel further went on to point out the timing of the reports versus the timing of the incidents. 10 AA2309-10. Counsel went on to reiterate that the children's grades were the best they had ever been during this time. 10 AA2312. The record clearly shows that counsel's closing argument was designed to discredit the witnesses and attempt to

show that Appellant had been a positive influence on the family. While this strategy was ultimately not successful, it was clearly not unreasonable.

Therefore, counsel was not ineffective during closing argument. As such, the district court did not err in denying Appellant's request for post-conviction relief on the ground. This claim should be denied.

V. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ERR BY NOT FINDING THAT COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE AT SENTENCING

Appellant next argues that the district court erred in not finding that his counsel was ineffective during sentencing. <u>AOB</u> at 41.⁶ Specifically, Appellant alleged in district court that it was ineffective for counsel to not file a sentencing memorandum, as well as to not present any witnesses to provide mitigation testimony. 11 AA2517.

As an initial point, in district court, Appellant never alleged what information should or could have been presented in a sentencing memorandum. 11 AA2517-18. Appellant now claims that his counsel should have presented evidence of his youth and economic background. <u>AOB</u> at 42. However, Appellant was fifty (50) years old at the time of sentencing. Appellant does not explain how being fifty (50) is indicative of youth or relevant to sentencing. Neither was Appellant's economic background relevant. Appellant was not convicted of a property crime or some other

_

⁶ Appellant also seems to contend that his sentence was cruel and unusual. Given that this is a legally distinct argument, the State addresses it in section VI.

offense where the defendant's economic background may offer context to the conduct committed. Appellant raped and otherwise sexually assaulted multiple young girls over a period spanning multiple years. Whether or not Appellant was financially well-off was completely irrelevant.

Appellant further has never alleged what witnesses could have been called to present mitigation testimony, or what these alleged witnesses would have even testified to. 11 AA2517-18. As such, Appellant's claims were bare and naked assertions suitable only for summary dismissal pursuant to Hargrove.

Further, the record demonstrates that Appellant's counsel performed effectively at sentencing. Counsel began by noting the number of people who had been called as witnesses who testified that none of the State's witnesses had spoken up regarding the abuse. 10 AA2468. To the extent Appellant believes these are the witnesses who should have been called, such a decision was unnecessary. The sentencing judge was the same judge who had presided over the trial, and as such, had already heard this testimony. 10 AA2466. Counsel further noted Appellant's relatively old age. 10 AA2468. That counsel could not present a more sympathetic argument was due not to counsel's alleged ineffectiveness, but the reprehensible nature of Appellant's actions.

Therefore, counsel was not ineffective during sentencing. As such, the district court did not err in denying Appellant's request for post-conviction relief on the ground. This claim should be denied.

VI. APPELLANT'S SENTENCE WAS NOT CRUEL AND UNUSUAL

Appellant has also made allegations that his sentence constitutes cruel and unusual punishment. 11 AA2517-18; <u>AOB</u>, at 41-43. The Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution as well as Article 1, Section 6 of the Nevada Constitution prohibits the imposition of cruel and unusual punishment. The Nevada Supreme Court has stated that "[a] sentence within the statutory limits is not 'cruel and unusual punishment unless the statute fixing punishment is unconstitutional or the sentence is so unreasonably disproportionate to the offense as to shock the conscience." <u>Allred v. State</u>, 120 Nev. 410, 92 P.2d 1246, 1253 (2004) (quoting <u>Blume v. State</u>, 112 Nev. 472, 475, 915 P.2d 282, 284 (1996) (quoting <u>Culverson v. State</u>, 95 Nev. 95 Nev. 433, 435, 596 P.2d 220, 221-22 (1979).

Additionally, the Nevada Supreme Court has granted district courts "wide discretion" in sentencing decisions, and these are not to be disturbed "[s]o long as the record does not demonstrate prejudice resulting from consideration of information or accusations founded on facts supported only by impalpable or highly suspect evidence." Allred, 120 Nev. at 410, 92 P.2d at 1253 (quoting Silks v. State, 92 Nev. 91, 94, 545 P.2d 1159, 1161 (1976)). A sentencing judge is permitted broad

discretion in imposing a sentence and absent an abuse of discretion, the district court's determination will not be disturbed on appeal. Randell v. State, 109 Nev. 5, 846 P.2d 278 (1993) (*citing* Deveroux v. State, 96 Nev. 388, 610 P.2d 722 (1980)). As long as the sentence is within the limits set by the legislature, a sentence will normally not be considered cruel and unusual. Glegola v. State, 110 Nev. 344, 871 P.2d 950 (1994).

Appellant concedes that his sentence was within the statutory limits. <u>AOB</u>, at 42. Further, Appellant does not even allege that the Court relied on impalpable or highly suspect evidence. Instead Appellant makes a proportionality argument, alleging that his sentence is simply too long given his crimes. The State disagrees. Appellant was convicted for sexually assaulting multiple minors over many years. Appellant was further convicted of beating minors. Appellant was also convicted of sexually assaulting their mother and forcing her to work as a prostitute. <u>See generally</u>, 1 AA0070-80. It is the reprehensible nature of these crimes, not the sentence, which shocks the conscience. Therefore, Appellant's sentence is neither cruel nor unusual. As such, the district court did not err in denying Appellant's request for post-conviction relief on the ground. This claim should be denied.

VII. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ERR BY NOT FINDING THAT APPELLANT'S COUNSEL WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE DURING THE MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL

Appellant next argues that the district court erred in finding that his counsel was not ineffective in their preparation and arguments regarding Appellant's Motion for a New Trial. AOB, at 43-53. While Appellant dedicated multiple pages of his Petition to trying to relitigate the issue of whether he should have been granted a new trial due to juror misconduct, his only real claim was that counsel was ineffective is that counsel failed to secure Kathleen Smith's ("Smith") signature on her affidavit once it had been revised. 11 AA2518-23.

The affidavit Appellant pointed to referenced Smith's allegations that a juror (Yvonne Lewis) spoke about being sexually assaulted during jury deliberations. 1 AA0110-16. Lewis did not indicate during voir dire that she had ever been sexually assaulted. As such, Appellant claimed this was grounds for a new trial due to juror misconduct.

However, Appellant is incorrect that counsel's failure to get Smith to sign the affidavit constituted ineffective assistance of counsel. Counsel prepared the affidavit after her investigator spoke to Smith. However, Smith requested that changes be made to the affidavit and refused to sign it, claiming "she did not want to get involved." 1 AA00107, 111. Appellant's counsel could not force someone to sign a document, and any assertion that her failure to do so constitutes ineffective assistance of counsel was incorrect

Further, counsel's conduct following Smith's refusal to sign the affidavit was reasonable. Counsel requested and received an evidentiary hearing on the issue. 1 AA0107-08. At the hearing, counsel called Smith as a witness, and asked her to explain her experience during deliberation. 10 AA2389-97. Counsel further received a hand written statement from Smith detailing what happened during the deliberation. 1 AA0112-13. This statement was attached as Exhibit B to Appellant's Reply. Id.

The simple fact is that Appellant's Motion being denied had nothing to do with counsel's alleged ineffectiveness. It had everything to do with the fact that multiple jurors (including Yvonne Lewis) testified that Lewis did not claim during deliberations that she had been sexually assaulted. 10 AA2411-12, 2435. These jurors also indicated that Ms. Smith had claimed she could not vote guilty based upon Appellant's race. 10 AA2413, 2421. As such, it is clear that counsel did everything she could have possibly done in investigating this claim. Counsel was not ineffective on this ground.

Further, to the extent Appellant was seeking to relitigate the fact that he should have been granted a new trial due to juror misconduct, such a claim was barred by law of the case doctrine. "The law of a first appeal is law of the case on all subsequent appeals in which the facts are substantially the same." <u>Hall v. State</u>, 91 Nev. 314, 315, 535 P.2d 797, 798 (1975) (quoting Walker v. State, 85 Nev. 337, 343, 455 P.2d

34, 38 (1969)). "The doctrine of the law of the case cannot be avoided by a more detailed and precisely focused argument subsequently made after reflection upon the previous proceedings." <u>Id.</u> at 316, 535 P.2d at 799. Under the law of the case doctrine, issues previously decided on direct appeal may not be reargued in a habeas petition. <u>Pellegrini v. State</u>, 117 Nev. 860, 879, 34 P.3d 519, 532 (2001) (*citing* McNelton v. State, 115 Nev. 396, 414-15, 990 P.2d 1263, 1275 (1999)).

On November 28, 2017, this Court issued an Order of Affirmance finding that stated "the district court did not abuse its discretion in denying the motion for a new trial for juror misconduct, as any misconduct did not prejudice Appellant." Order of Affirmance, at 2, May 24, 2017; filed in case number 69093. As such, Appellant's attempt to relitigate this issue was barred by law of the case and must be denied.

Given that counsel was not ineffective during the preparation for the Motion for New Trial, the district court did not err in denying Appellant's request for post-conviction relief on the ground. This claim should be denied.

VIII. THE DISTRICTR COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING THAT APPELLATE COUNSEL WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE

Appellant next argues that the district court erred in finding that his appellate counsel was not ineffective. <u>AOB</u> at 53. In district court, Appellant argued that appellate counsel should have raised the following issues on appeal: (1) that Appellant's sentence was a cruel and unusual punishment in violation of the eighth

amendment; (2) that the court erred by limiting cross-examination; and (3) that the court erred by not restraining excessive prosecutorial misconduct. 11 AA2524.

There is a strong presumption that appellate counsel's performance was reasonable and fell within "the wide range of reasonable professional assistance." See United States v. Aguirre, 912 F.2d 555, 560 (2nd Cir. 1990); citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689, 104 S. Ct. at 2065. A claim of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel must satisfy the two-prong test set forth by Strickland. Kirksey v. State, 112 Nev. 980, 998, 923 P.2d 1102, 1114 (1996). In order to satisfy Strickland's second prong, the defendant must show that the omitted issue would have had a reasonable probability of success on appeal. Id.

The professional diligence and competence required on appeal involves "winnowing out weaker arguments on appeal and focusing on one central issue if possible, or at most on a few key issues." <u>Jones v. Barnes</u>, 463 U.S. 745, 751-52, 103 S. Ct. 3308, 3313 (1983). In particular, a "brief that raises every colorable issue runs the risk of burying good arguments . . . in a verbal mound made up of strong and weak contentions." <u>Id.</u> at 753, 103 S. Ct. at 3313. "For judges to second-guess reasonable professional judgments and impose on appointed counsel a duty to raise every 'colorable' claim suggested by a client would disserve the very goal of vigorous and effective advocacy." Id. at 754, 103 S. Ct. at 3314.

Appellate counsel was not ineffective for not bringing the claims Appellant now urges they should have. The claims Appellant advocates for are either without merit, or so bare of factual underpinnings that their merit was and is impossible to address. First, as the State argued in Section VI, Appellant's punishment was not cruel and unusual. Second, it is unclear what witnesses Appellant was not entitled to fully cross-examine. The State notes that appellate counsel did raise the issue on appeal of whether the district court erred in limiting his cross-examination regarding a book written by T.D. 10 AA2481-82. To the extent this is the issue Appellant is alleging, his claim is belied by the record. Otherwise, the underlying claim Appellant alleges counsel should have brought is nothing more than a bare and naked allegation. Finally, as the State argued in Section IV(B), the State did not engage in vouching, so any prosecutorial misconduct claim on these grounds would have been frivolous. Appellant now also alleges that counsel should have argued on appeal that cumulative prosecutorial misconduct was so pervasive as to warrant a reversal under plain error review. Appellant has provided no factual or legal support for this argument, and as such it need not be considered by this Court. See generally Maresca v. State, 103 Nev. 669, 673, 748 P.2d 3, 6 (1987) ("It is appellant's responsibility to present relevant authority and cogent argument; issues not so presented need not be addressed by this court)."

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